
 
**PERSONAL AUDIO ENHANCERS ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE COUNCIL 

SECRETARY**
AGENDA FOR REGULAR ELKHART CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

LOCATION:  CITY HALL, 2ND FLOOR, COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 December 16, 2024 

6:00 P.M. 
 

1.   Call to Order, Pledge, Moment of Silent Meditation, Roll Call 
 
2.  Minutes for Approval   

 Minutes of November 18, 2024  Council Meeting 
      Minutes of November 25, 2024  Council Meeting  Special Call 
 Minutes of December 2, 2024  Council Meeting 

   
 Presentations and Introductions 
 James Gerald  IT Director  
 
 Unfinished Business 
 
 Reports of Council Committees  

      
a) Ordinances on Second-Third Reading  

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-55, an ordinance of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, establishing the Elkhart Environmental Center Fund 
and the Elkhart Environmental Center Fee Schedule 
Proposed Ordinance 24-O-56, an ordinance appropriating Four Hundred Ten 
Thousand and 00\100 Dollars ($410,000.00) from the ARP Coronavirus Local 
Fiscal Recovery Fund for the LaSalle, McKinley and Benham area water and 
sewer project 
 

b) Ordinances and Resolutions Referred to Committees 
There are no Ordinances or Resolutions referred to committees 
 
Tabled Ordinances and Resolutions  

       There are no tabled Ordinances or Resolutions 
 
3.       New Business 

 
a. Ordinances on First Reading 

There are no Ordinances on First Reading 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Resolutions 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-62, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, confirming Resolution No. R-61-24, which declared 
a certain area in the City of Elkhart to be an Economic Revitalization area for 
the purpose of granting tax phase-in benefits to Accra-Pac, Inc. DBA Voyant 
Beauty\NM VYT, LLC 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-63, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, to approve a memorandum of agreement between the 
City of Elkhart and Accra-Pac, Inc. DBA Voyant Beauty\NM VYT, LLC 
 

b. Vacation Hearings 
There are no Vacation Hearings 

       
c. Other New Business 

 
d. Reports of Mayor, Board of Works, Board of Safety or City Departments 

 
e. Neighborhood Association Report 

 
f. Privilege of the Floor 

                  Please limit your comments to 3 minutes to allow others time to comment 
 

g. Scheduling of Committee Meetings 
 
4.       Acceptance of Communications 

 Minutes of October 30, 2024  Board of Aviation Meeting 
 Minutes of November 12, 2024  Board of Public Safety 
 Minutes of November 26, 2024  Board of Public Safety 
 Minutes of November 19, 2004  Board of Public Works 
 Minutes of November 13, 2024  Lerner Theatre Board 
 
 
 Adjournment 

 





































































 DRAFT  

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL CALL COMMON COUNCIL MEETING 
OF NOVEMBER 25, 2024 

 
Present: Council President Arvis Dawson 

Council Members Alex Holtz, Brent Curry, LaTonya King, Aaron Mishler, 
Dwight Fish, Chad Crabtree and David Henke 
 

Absent: Tonda Hines   
 
 This meeting was made available to the public electronically through WebEx. 
 
 President Dawson called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers at 
City Hall, 229 S. Second Street, in Elkhart.    
  
 The clerk called the roll.   
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the special call notice in its entirety.   
 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-50 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 5983, AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING 
CERTAIN REAL ESTATE, DESCRIBED AS ELKHART EAST ANNEXATION, PHASE 

1 INTO THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.  He asked for a 
motion and second to adopt the resolution.  Motion by Councilman Crabtree, second by 
Councilman Fish. 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-50 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 43 minutes and 54 seconds of the 
audio recording.  
 
John Espar, Corporation Counsel said this is a voluntary annexation. The applicant, who is the 
owner of the property, secured the services of an outside consultant to prepare the legal 
description so they could bring the petition to the Planning Commission and ultimately to the 
Council. He said that legal description had more than typographical errors. It had a fatal error to 
the extent that it described property that was not intended for annexation. There was no way to 
correct this other than start the process over, provide the public hearing at the Planning 
Commission and once it went through that process to bring it back to the Council to correct the 
legal description. That is what this proposed ordinance does, it provides the accurate legal 
description and therefore properly annexes the property.  
 
Councilman Mishler asked is this an amendment to the previous ordinance or is this a new 
ordinance? John Espar replied, it is an amendment to the previous legislative act to correct the 
legal description to properly define the property that was previously intended to be annexed. 
Councilman Mishler asked if it needs the public hearing and to go through the usual process. 



 

2 
 

John Espar replied, yes. Councilman Mishler asked are they doing that right now. President 
Dawson replied, yes, when they are done discussing the ordinance, they will open it for public 
discussion. Councilman Mishler asked when this was on first read. President Dawson replied, 
it was first read at the last council meeting on November 18, 2024. John Espar said it was first 
read at the last regular Council meeting and this Special Call Meeting was called at a time after 
sufficient notice of the public hearing could take place. 
 
Councilman Henke asked if they need to state something to the effect of replacing the 
ordinance in its entirety and restating the ordinance retroactive to the effective date of June 3, 
2024.  He said they have to make it specific. John Espar replied it was the expectation that the 
language that he cited would accomplish exactly what he understood to be an important aspect of 
this amendment. His intention was to avoid the suggestion that they were repeating or that the 

 
 
Councilman Mishler said he understands that this can happen from time to time but this made it 
through the process and it was not noticed. How can they prevent this kind of error in the future? 
John Espar said that would require outside consultants submit a legal description to the County 

. That would increase the burden of time required and it would 
require more time from the County as they would be acting as a proof reader for outside 
consultants work. The outside consultant is engaged with a company for their expertise and they 
need to rely on them to provide accurate descriptions. When the county lays out the description 
on a map they have to expect it to work and if it does not and it happens enough they will stop 
working with certain consultants. The individual responsible is very apologetic and proposed in 
future annexations that they work on they will take the legal description to the County to provide 
advanced approval before the Planning Commission process begins. 
 
Councilman Fish said, he does not want to discuss possible new legislation, they can talk about 
that later. He asked what they do now to clean this up and get it moving today. John Espar 
replied continue with the public hearing and anything else they wish to debate on this ordinance 
and that will satisfy the legal requirements to pass this ordinance. 
 
Councilman Holtz asked if anyone had been harmed due to this error.  John Espar replied no. 
 
Councilman Henke asked when the error was found. John Espar said the error was found when 
the recorder and the County Geographic Information System hereafter GIS professional 
attempted to lay the legal description on the map.  comment was not heard. 
 
Councilman Henke proposed an amendment to the fourth paragraph of the ordinance to read, 
The City of Elkhart intends to amend Ordinance No. 5983 by replacing it in its entirety and 

making it retroactive to the original effective date of June 3, 2024.  President Dawson asked if 
there was a second to the motion to amend. There was no second. Proposed amendment failed 
due to lack of a second. 
 
Council discussion ends at 54 minutes and 34 seconds of the audio recording. 
 
 
 



 

3 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-50 
President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 54 minute and 40 seconds of the audio 
recording.  
 
There was no public discussion. 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-50 
President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 54 minutes and 46 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
There was no further Council discussion. 
  
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote on second reading. 
 
AYES:  Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Crabtree, Dawson 
NAYS:  Henke 
 
By a vote of 7-1 the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 
 
President Dawson asked for a motion and a second to pass the Ordinance on Third Reading.  
Motion by Councilman Mishler, second by Councilman Fish. 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the ordinance by title only and to do a roll call vote on 
the adoption of the ordinance. 
 
AYES:  Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Crabtree, Dawson 
NAYS:  Henke 
 
By a vote of 7-1 the proposed ordinance passed on third and final. 
 
Discussion on the proposed resolution ends at 55 minutes and 49 seconds of the audio recording. 
 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

President Dawson asked for a motion to adjourn.  
 
Motion made by Councilman Mishler, second by Councilman Curry. 
 
By a unanimous voice vote, the meeting was adjourned. 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________  ________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk   Arvis L. Dawson 
                  President of the Elkhart City Council 















































 
1717 E. Lusher Avenue, Elkhart, IN 46516    •    (574) 293-5070    •    EECmail@coei.org    •     

www.elkhartindiana.org 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-55

MEMORANDUM

 

Date November 18, 2024 

To City of Elkhart Common Council 

From Jeff Zavatsky, Elkhart Environmental Center, Director 

Re Fee Schedule Adoption for Elkhart Environmental Center 

The Elkhart Environmental Center is asking for formal approval of the 2025 fee schedule.

See attached form for complete list of fees. 

 

 

 

Jeffrey Zavatsky, Director 

Elkhart Environmental Center 

 



P
ro

gr
am

F
ee

F
ee

 N
ot

es
W

oo
d 

D
uc

k 
H

ou
se

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

0-
$8

0
$5

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e;
 $

55
-$

75
 p

er
 k

it
O

ri
ol

e 
Fe

ed
er

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

-$
11

$1
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e;

 $
5-

$1
0 

pe
r 

ki
t

B
at

 H
ou

se
 W

or
ks

ho
p

$8
-$

13
$1

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e;
 $

7-
$1

2 
pe

r 
ki

t
B

ar
re

d 
O

w
l B

ox
 W

or
ks

ho
p

$6
0-

$8
0

$5
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e;

 $
55

-$
75

 p
er

 k
it

B
lu

eb
ir

d 
B

ox
 W

or
ks

ho
p

$6
-$

11
$1

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e;
 $

5-
$1

0 
pe

r 
ki

t
R

ai
n 

B
ar

re
l/

B
ui

ld
-a

-B
ar

re
l W

or
ks

ho
p

$5
1-

$8
1

$1
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e;

 $
50

-$
80

 p
er

 k
it

S
cr

ee
ch

 O
w

l B
ox

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

0-
$8

0
$5

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e;
 $

55
-$

75
 p

er
 k

it
R

ec
yc

le
d 

H
um

m
in

gb
ir

d 
Fe

ed
er

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

-$
16

$1
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e;

 $
5-

$1
5 

pe
r 

ki
t

H
ou

se
 W

re
n 

B
ox

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

-$
11

$1
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e;

 $
5-

$1
0 

pe
r 

ki
t

A
ss

or
te

d 
W

il
dl

if
e 

B
ox

/F
ee

de
r 

W
or

ks
ho

ps
$5

-8
0

co
st

 p
er

 k
it

 d
ep

en
di

ng
 o

n 
m

at
er

ia
ls

*F
ee

 d
et

er
m

in
ed

 b
y 

m
ar

ke
t p

ri
ce

 o
f 

co
ns

tr
uc

ti
on

 s
up

pl
ie

s;
 s

ub
je

ct
 to

 c
ha

ng
e

P
ro

gr
am

F
ee

F
ee

 N
ot

es
Z

er
o 

W
as

te
 W

or
ks

ho
ps

$3
-$

7
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

E
co

-D
ye

in
g 

W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
L

ea
f 

C
as

ti
ng

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
P

ac
ka

ge
-F

re
e 

P
re

tz
el

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
D

IY
 L

ip
 B

al
m

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
W

or
m

 B
in

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$8

-$
13

$1
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e;

 $
7-

$1
2 

pe
r 

ki
t

B
ee

sw
ax

 W
ra

p 
W

or
ks

ho
p

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

U
pc

yc
le

d 
C

at
 T

ow
er

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

-$
11

$1
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e;

 $
5-

$1
0 

pe
r 

ki
t

A
ss

or
te

d 
D

IY
/S

us
ta

in
ab

il
it

y 
W

or
ks

ho
ps

$3
-$

12
C

os
t p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e 

or
 k

it
 d

ep
en

di
ng

 
on

 p
ro

gr
am

**
Fe

e 
de

te
rm

in
ed

 b
y 

su
pp

ly
 c

os
ts

; s
ub

je
ct

 to
 c

ha
ng

e

C
on

se
rv

at
io

n 
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

 W
or

ks
h

op
s

E
lk

h
ar

t 
E

n
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l C
en

te
r

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
ul

e

D
IY

 / 
S

u
st

ai
n

ab
il

it
y 

W
or

ks
h

op
s



P
ro

gr
am

F
ee

F
ee

 N
ot

es
B

ir
ds

 o
f 

P
re

y
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
G

ar
de

ni
ng

 f
or

 W
il

dl
if

e 
W

or
ks

ho
p

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

M
on

ar
ch

 T
ag

gi
ng

 &
 M

ig
ra

ti
on

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

B
at

s 
of

 I
nd

ia
na

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

B
ri

ng
in

g 
N

at
ur

e 
H

om
e

$5
-$

15
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

N
at

ur
e 

P
ho

to
gr

ap
hy

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
20

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
N

at
iv

e 
P

ra
ir

ie
 P

ai
nt

in
g 

W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
20

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
A

n 
E

ve
ni

ng
 w

it
h 

O
w

ls
 / 

O
w

l P
ro

gr
am

s
$5

-$
12

$5
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e;

 $
5-

$7
 p

er
 p

el
le

t
A

ss
or

te
d 

G
ue

st
 S

pe
ak

er
 P

ro
gr

am
s

$5
-$

20
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

**
*F

ee
 d

et
er

m
in

ed
 b

y 
pr

es
en

te
r 

co
st

s;
 s

ub
je

ct
 to

 c
ha

ng
e

P
ro

gr
am

F
ee

F
ee

 N
ot

es
W

in
te

r 
B

ir
di

ng
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
S

ee
d 

B
om

b 
W

or
ks

ho
p

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

N
at

ur
e 

S
to

ry
 H

ou
r

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

In
tr

o 
to

 N
at

ur
e 

ID
 A

pp
s

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

W
il

df
lo

w
er

 H
ik

e
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
B

ir
di

ng
 f

or
 B

eg
in

ne
rs

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

M
ig

ra
to

ry
 B

ir
di

ng
 H

ik
es

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

N
at

ur
e 

P
la

y 
D

ay
s

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

H
ow

 N
at

iv
e 

P
la

nt
s 

B
ri

ng
 Y

ou
r 

G
ar

de
n 

to
 L

if
e

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

R
ai

n 
G

ar
de

n 
&

 R
ai

n 
B

ar
re

l W
or

ks
ho

p 
(I

nf
o 

S
es

si
on

s)
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
N

at
iv

e 
P

la
nt

s
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e

G
u

es
t 

Sp
ea

ke
r 

P
ro

gr
am

s

E
nv

ir
on

m
en

ta
l E

d
uc

at
io

n 
&

 I
n

te
rp

re
ti

ve
 P

ro
gr

am
s



Ju
ni

or
 I

nd
ia

na
 M

as
te

r 
N

at
ur

al
is

t C
am

p
$1

00
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

P
ri

va
te

 P
ro

gr
am

s
E

lk
ha

rt
 C

om
m

un
it

y 
S

ch
oo

ls
$3

co
st

 p
er

 k
id

 (
$5

0 
m

in
. c

ha
rg

e)
A

ll
 o

th
er

 g
ro

up
s

$5
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e 

($
50

 m
in

. c
ha

rg
e)

M
or

e 
th

an
 2

 C
ha

pe
ro

ne
s 

pe
r 

10
 k

id
s

$ 
3-

 $
5

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e

E
E

 &
 I

nt
er

pr
et

iv
e 

P
ro

gr
am

 K
it

s
$5

0-
$1

00
co

st
 d

ep
en

di
ng

 o
n 

ki
t m

at
er

ia
ls

A
ss

or
te

d 
E

E
 P

ro
gr

am
s,

 H
ik

es
, e

tc
.

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

**
* 

$5
0 

m
in

. c
ha

rg
e 

fo
r 

al
l g

ro
up

s,
 f

ee
s 

ar
e 

w
ai

ve
d 

if
 c

om
m

un
it

y 
se

rv
ic

e 
is

 a
pa

rt
 o

f 
pr

og
ra

m
(3

0 
m

in
ut

es
 m

in
 f

or
 la

rg
e 

gr
ou

ps
, 6

0 
m

in
ut

es
 f

or
 s

m
al

l g
ro

up
s)

P
ro

gr
am

F
ee

F
ee

 N
ot

es
Fa

ll
 C

ol
or

s
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
N

at
ur

al
 E

gg
 D

ye
in

g 
W

or
ks

ho
p

$3
-$

7
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

H
ol

id
ay

 H
oo

ra
h

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

E
co

-V
al

en
ti

ne
's

 D
ay

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

E
ar

th
 D

ay
 T

ri
vi

a 
N

ig
ht

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

A
m

er
ic

a 
R

ec
yc

le
s 

D
ay

$3
-$

7
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

R
ec

yc
le

d 
Fa

th
er

's
 D

ay
 C

ar
ds

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

P
la

st
ic

 F
re

e 
Ju

ly
 P

ar
ty

$3
-$

7
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

G
re

en
 Y

ou
r 

H
al

lo
w

ee
n

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

Fo
ra

gi
ng

/W
il

d 
E

di
bl

es
 W

or
ks

ho
ps

$3
-$

7
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

G
ra

pe
 V

in
e 

&
 W

in
e

$5
-$

15
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

A
ss

or
te

d 
P

ub
li

c 
H

ol
id

ay
 P

ro
gr

am
s

$1
-$

15
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

E
as

te
r 

E
gg

 a
nd

 P
um

pk
in

 H
un

t
F

re
e

H
ol

id
ay

 / 
Se

as
on

al
 P

ro
gr

am
s



P
ro

gr
am

F
ee

F
ee

 N
ot

es
P

ol
li

na
to

r 
P

ro
m

en
ad

e
$1

5-
$2

5 
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

E
nv

ir
oF

es
t

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 f

am
il

y
H

au
nt

ed
 W

al
k 

T
hr

ou
gh

 th
e 

W
oo

ds
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 v
eh

ic
le

E
cl

ip
se

 V
ie

w
in

g 
P

ar
ty

 
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 p
er

so
n

C
it

y 
P

ap
er

 S
hr

ed
di

ng
/R

ec
yc

li
ng

 E
ve

nt
$2

0-
$4

0/
un

it
de

pe
nd

in
g 

on
 s

iz
e 

of
 s

hr
ed

di
ng

 m
at

er
ia

ls
E

xh
ib

it
or

 B
oo

th
 F

ee
$1

0-
50

de
pe

nd
in

g 
on

 s
pa

ce
 n

ee
de

d
V

en
do

r 
B

oo
th

 F
ee

$1
0-

50
Fo

od
 V

en
do

r 
Fe

e
$2

0-
20

0
S

up
pl

y 
R

en
ta

l F
ee

: T
ab

le
$1

0-
20

S
up

pl
y 

R
en

ta
l F

ee
: E

le
ct

ri
ci

ty
$3

0-
20

0
de

pe
nd

in
g 

on
 a

m
ps

, a
va

il
ab

il
it

y,
 e

tc
.

E
le

ct
ri

c 
U

sa
ge

 
$2

5.
00

pe
r 

da
y

G
az

eb
o 

R
en

ta
l

$5
0.

00
pe

r 
da

y 
/ n

o 
el

ec
tr

ic
it

y
O

ut
do

or
 P

av
il

io
n 

R
en

ta
l

$7
5.

00
pe

r 
da

y,
 h

as
 e

le
ct

ri
ci

ty
E

E
C

 M
ai

n 
C

ab
in

 R
en

ta
l

$1
00

pe
r 

se
ss

io
n 

(8
am

-4
pm

, 5
pm

-1
1p

m
)

E
E

C
 C

on
fe

re
nc

e 
R

oo
m

$1
00

pe
r 

se
ss

io
n 

(8
am

-4
pm

, 5
pm

-1
1p

m
)

K
id

s 
C

ab
in

 R
en

ta
l

$5
0

pe
r 

se
ss

io
n 

(8
am

-4
pm

, 5
pm

-1
1p

m
)

S
ec

ur
it

y 
D

ep
os

it
$3

00
O

ut
do

or
 A

m
ph

it
he

at
er

 
$5

0.
00

pe
r 

da
y

G
ar

de
n 

P
lo

t R
en

ta
l

$0
.0

0 
- $

10
.0

0
pe

r 
se

as
on

.  
Fe

e 
is

 d
ep

en
de

nt
 o

n 
an

y 
ci

ty
 w

at
er

 u
se

R
es

tr
oo

m
s 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
fo

r 
G

az
eb

o,
 O

ut
do

or
 P

av
il

io
n,

 K
id

s 
C

ab
in

, a
nd

 A
m

ph
it

he
at

er
 o

nl
y 

du
ri

ng
 b

us
in

es
s 

ho
ur

s 
M

-F
, 8

-5
pm

M
er

ch
an

di
se

S
hi

rt
s

$5
-$

25
.0

0
Co

st
 p

er
 It

em
H

at
s

$5
-$

25
.0

0
Co

st
 p

er
 It

em
D

rin
ki

ng
 C

on
ta

in
er

$1
0-

$3
0

Co
st

 p
er

 It
em

F
ac

il
it

ie
s

S
pe

ci
al

 E
ve

n
ts



Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-55

ORDINANCE NO. __________ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, ESTABLISHING THE ELKHART ENVIRONMENTAL CENTER FUND 

AND THE ELKHART ENVIRONMENTAL CENTER FEE SCHEDULE

__________________________________________________________________

 WHEREAS, the City of Elkhart, Indiana, (“City”) owns, operates and maintains the 

Elkhart Environmental Center (“EEC”) to educate the public on the impact of human behaviors on 

the local and regional ecological system and environment; and 

WHEREAS, on June 4, 2019, after twenty-five (25) of operations, the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart (the “Council”) approved the Elkhart Environmental Center Master Plan for 

the next twenty-five (25) years of operations; and  

 WHEREAS, the operations of the EEC, include numerous educational opportunities in the 

form of interactive field camps, school-based programing, workshops, guest speaker presentations, 

holiday and seasonal programing, as well as facilities rentals, merchandise and concessions sales; 

and 

 WHEREAS, the Administration has requested that the Council approve the Elkhart 

Environmental Center Fee Schedule, attached as Exhibit A, hereto, to establish the fees chargeable 

by the Elkhart Environmental Center, for current and foreseeable future programing of the Center; 

and  

 WHEREAS, the Administration has requested that the Council approve a mechanism for 

annual adjustments to the fee schedule, based upon an appropriate and readily available 

inflationary index, to wit: the Consumer Price Index, which includes activities, like entertainment 

and recreation, in its overall inflation calculation; and  



2

WHEREAS, the Council has reviewed the Elkhart Environmental Center Fee Schedule, 

and has determined that the Fee Schedule should be approved and implemented; and 

WHEREAS, the Elkhart Environmental Center Fund should be formally adopted for the 

operations and activities of the Center;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT:

Section 1. Elkhart Environmental Center Fund is hereby established, and the City 

Controller is hereby directed to designate a fund number, and create such accounts as a necessary 

and proper for the operations and activities of the Elkhart Environmental Center. 

Section 2. The Elkhart Environmental Center Fee Schedule, attached hereto as Exhibit A, 

is approved for the fees associated with the programing and operational activities of the Elkhart 

Environmental Center.

Section 3. The director of the Elkhart Environmental Center is authorized to request that 

the Board of Public Works and Utilities approve an adjustment of the Fee Schedule, annually, for 

appropriate increases to the Fee Schedule, not to exceed the rate of inflation, as reflected by 

increases in the Consumer Price Index. 

Section 4.  This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common 

Council and approval by the Mayor, as provided by law. 

Section 5. The Common Council fixed published and conducted a public hearing on this 

ordinance on the ____ day of ________________, ______, at 6:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers, 

at which time the Council considered and determine this ordinance, and all taxpayers and interested 

persons were afforded the opportunity to appear and express their views, in advance of the adoption 

of this ordinance.  



3

SO ORDAINED this day of , .

   
  Arvis Dawson
  President of the Common Council

ATTEST: 

  
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this  day of   ,  , at_________ 

a.m./p.m.  

   
 Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

Approved by me this  day of ,  . 

    
  Rod Roberson, Mayor

ATTEST: 

  
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 



P
ro

gr
am

F
ee

F
ee

 N
ot

es
W

oo
d 

D
uc

k 
H

ou
se

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

0-
$8

0
$5

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e;
 $

55
-$

75
 p

er
 k

it
O

ri
ol

e 
Fe

ed
er

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

-$
11

$1
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e;

 $
5-

$1
0 

pe
r 

ki
t

B
at

 H
ou

se
 W

or
ks

ho
p

$8
-$

13
$1

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e;
 $

7-
$1

2 
pe

r 
ki

t
B

ar
re

d 
O

w
l B

ox
 W

or
ks

ho
p

$6
0-

$8
0

$5
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e;

 $
55

-$
75

 p
er

 k
it

B
lu

eb
ir

d 
B

ox
 W

or
ks

ho
p

$6
-$

11
$1

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e;
 $

5-
$1

0 
pe

r 
ki

t
R

ai
n 

B
ar

re
l/

B
ui

ld
-a

-B
ar

re
l W

or
ks

ho
p

$5
1-

$8
1

$1
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e;

 $
50

-$
80

 p
er

 k
it

S
cr

ee
ch

 O
w

l B
ox

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

0-
$8

0
$5

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e;
 $

55
-$

75
 p

er
 k

it
R

ec
yc

le
d 

H
um

m
in

gb
ir

d 
Fe

ed
er

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

-$
16

$1
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e;

 $
5-

$1
5 

pe
r 

ki
t

H
ou

se
 W

re
n 

B
ox

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

-$
11

$1
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e;

 $
5-

$1
0 

pe
r 

ki
t

A
ss

or
te

d 
W

il
dl

if
e 

B
ox

/F
ee

de
r 

W
or

ks
ho

ps
$5

-8
0

co
st

 p
er

 k
it

 d
ep

en
di

ng
 o

n 
m

at
er

ia
ls

*F
ee

 d
et

er
m

in
ed

 b
y 

m
ar

ke
t p

ri
ce

 o
f 

co
ns

tr
uc

ti
on

 s
up

pl
ie

s;
 s

ub
je

ct
 to

 c
ha

ng
e

P
ro

gr
am

F
ee

F
ee

 N
ot

es
Z

er
o 

W
as

te
 W

or
ks

ho
ps

$3
-$

7
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

E
co

-D
ye

in
g 

W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
L

ea
f 

C
as

ti
ng

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
P

ac
ka

ge
-F

re
e 

P
re

tz
el

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
D

IY
 L

ip
 B

al
m

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
W

or
m

 B
in

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$8

-$
13

$1
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e;

 $
7-

$1
2 

pe
r 

ki
t

B
ee

sw
ax

 W
ra

p 
W

or
ks

ho
p

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

U
pc

yc
le

d 
C

at
 T

ow
er

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

-$
11

$1
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e;

 $
5-

$1
0 

pe
r 

ki
t

A
ss

or
te

d 
D

IY
/S

us
ta

in
ab

il
it

y 
W

or
ks

ho
ps

$3
-$

12
C

os
t p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e 

or
 k

it
 d

ep
en

di
ng

 
on

 p
ro

gr
am

**
Fe

e 
de

te
rm

in
ed

 b
y 

su
pp

ly
 c

os
ts

; s
ub

je
ct

 to
 c

ha
ng

e

C
on

se
rv

at
io

n 
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

 W
or

ks
h

op
s

E
lk

h
ar

t 
E

n
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l C
en

te
r

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
ul

e

D
IY

 / 
S

u
st

ai
n

ab
il

it
y 

W
or

ks
h

op
s

E
X

H
IB

IT
 A

1



P
ro

gr
am

F
ee

F
ee

 N
ot

es
B

ir
ds

 o
f 

P
re

y
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
G

ar
de

ni
ng

 f
or

 W
il

dl
if

e 
W

or
ks

ho
p

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

M
on

ar
ch

 T
ag

gi
ng

 &
 M

ig
ra

ti
on

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

B
at

s 
of

 I
nd

ia
na

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

B
ri

ng
in

g 
N

at
ur

e 
H

om
e

$5
-$

15
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

N
at

ur
e 

P
ho

to
gr

ap
hy

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
20

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
N

at
iv

e 
P

ra
ir

ie
 P

ai
nt

in
g 

W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
20

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
A

n 
E

ve
ni

ng
 w

it
h 

O
w

ls
 / 

O
w

l P
ro

gr
am

s
$5

-$
12

$5
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e;

 $
5-

$7
 p

er
 p

el
le

t
A

ss
or

te
d 

G
ue

st
 S

pe
ak

er
 P

ro
gr

am
s

$5
-$

20
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

**
*F

ee
 d

et
er

m
in

ed
 b

y 
pr

es
en

te
r 

co
st

s;
 s

ub
je

ct
 to

 c
ha

ng
e

P
ro

gr
am

F
ee

F
ee

 N
ot

es
W

in
te

r 
B

ir
di

ng
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
S

ee
d 

B
om

b 
W

or
ks

ho
p

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

N
at

ur
e 

S
to

ry
 H

ou
r

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

In
tr

o 
to

 N
at

ur
e 

ID
 A

pp
s

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

W
il

df
lo

w
er

 H
ik

e
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
B

ir
di

ng
 f

or
 B

eg
in

ne
rs

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

M
ig

ra
to

ry
 B

ir
di

ng
 H

ik
es

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

N
at

ur
e 

P
la

y 
D

ay
s

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

H
ow

 N
at

iv
e 

P
la

nt
s 

B
ri

ng
 Y

ou
r 

G
ar

de
n 

to
 L

if
e

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

R
ai

n 
G

ar
de

n 
&

 R
ai

n 
B

ar
re

l W
or

ks
ho

p 
(I

nf
o 

S
es

si
on

s)
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
N

at
iv

e 
P

la
nt

s
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e

G
u

es
t 

Sp
ea

ke
r 

P
ro

gr
am

s

E
nv

ir
on

m
en

ta
l E

d
uc

at
io

n 
&

 I
n

te
rp

re
ti

ve
 P

ro
gr

am
s

E
X

H
IB

IT
 A

2



Ju
ni

or
 I

nd
ia

na
 M

as
te

r 
N

at
ur

al
is

t C
am

p
$1

00
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

P
ri

va
te

 P
ro

gr
am

s
E

lk
ha

rt
 C

om
m

un
it

y 
S

ch
oo

ls
$3

co
st

 p
er

 k
id

 (
$5

0 
m

in
. c

ha
rg

e)
A

ll
 o

th
er

 g
ro

up
s

$5
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e 

($
50

 m
in

. c
ha

rg
e)

M
or

e 
th

an
 2

 C
ha

pe
ro

ne
s 

pe
r 

10
 k

id
s

$ 
3-

 $
5

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e

E
E

 &
 I

nt
er

pr
et

iv
e 

P
ro

gr
am

 K
it

s
$5

0-
$1

00
co

st
 d

ep
en

di
ng

 o
n 

ki
t m

at
er

ia
ls

A
ss

or
te

d 
E

E
 P

ro
gr

am
s,

 H
ik

es
, e

tc
.

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

**
* 

$5
0 

m
in

. c
ha

rg
e 

fo
r 

al
l g

ro
up

s,
 f

ee
s 

ar
e 

w
ai

ve
d 

if
 c

om
m

un
it

y 
se

rv
ic

e 
is

 a
pa

rt
 o

f 
pr

og
ra

m
(3

0 
m

in
ut

es
 m

in
 f

or
 la

rg
e 

gr
ou

ps
, 6

0 
m

in
ut

es
 f

or
 s

m
al

l g
ro

up
s)

P
ro

gr
am

F
ee

F
ee

 N
ot

es
Fa

ll
 C

ol
or

s
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tt

en
de

e
N

at
ur

al
 E

gg
 D

ye
in

g 
W

or
ks

ho
p

$3
-$

7
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

H
ol

id
ay

 H
oo

ra
h

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

E
co

-V
al

en
ti

ne
's

 D
ay

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

E
ar

th
 D

ay
 T

ri
vi

a 
N

ig
ht

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

A
m

er
ic

a 
R

ec
yc

le
s 

D
ay

$3
-$

7
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

R
ec

yc
le

d 
Fa

th
er

's
 D

ay
 C

ar
ds

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

P
la

st
ic

 F
re

e 
Ju

ly
 P

ar
ty

$3
-$

7
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

G
re

en
 Y

ou
r 

H
al

lo
w

ee
n

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

Fo
ra

gi
ng

/W
il

d 
E

di
bl

es
 W

or
ks

ho
ps

$3
-$

7
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

G
ra

pe
 V

in
e 

&
 W

in
e

$5
-$

15
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

A
ss

or
te

d 
P

ub
li

c 
H

ol
id

ay
 P

ro
gr

am
s

$1
-$

15
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

E
as

te
r 

E
gg

 a
nd

 P
um

pk
in

 H
un

t
F

re
e

H
ol

id
ay

 / 
Se

as
on

al
 P

ro
gr

am
s

E
X

H
IB

IT
 A

3



P
ro

gr
am

F
ee

F
ee

 N
ot

es
P

ol
li

na
to

r 
P

ro
m

en
ad

e
$1

5-
$2

5 
co

st
 p

er
 a

tt
en

de
e

E
nv

ir
oF

es
t

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 f

am
il

y
H

au
nt

ed
 W

al
k 

T
hr

ou
gh

 th
e 

W
oo

ds
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 v
eh

ic
le

E
cl

ip
se

 V
ie

w
in

g 
P

ar
ty

 
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 p
er

so
n

C
it

y 
P

ap
er

 S
hr

ed
di

ng
/R

ec
yc

li
ng

 E
ve

nt
$2

0-
$4

0/
un

it
de

pe
nd

in
g 

on
 s

iz
e 

of
 s

hr
ed

di
ng

 m
at

er
ia

ls
E

xh
ib

it
or

 B
oo

th
 F

ee
$1

0-
50

de
pe

nd
in

g 
on

 s
pa

ce
 n

ee
de

d
V

en
do

r 
B

oo
th

 F
ee

$1
0-

50
Fo

od
 V

en
do

r 
Fe

e
$2

0-
20

0
S

up
pl

y 
R

en
ta

l F
ee

: T
ab

le
$1

0-
20

S
up

pl
y 

R
en

ta
l F

ee
: E

le
ct

ri
ci

ty
$3

0-
20

0
de

pe
nd

in
g 

on
 a

m
ps

, a
va

il
ab

il
it

y,
 e

tc
.

E
le

ct
ri

c 
U

sa
ge

 
$2

5.
00

pe
r 

da
y

G
az

eb
o 

R
en

ta
l

$5
0.

00
pe

r 
da

y 
/ n

o 
el

ec
tr

ic
it

y
O

ut
do

or
 P

av
il

io
n 

R
en

ta
l

$7
5.

00
pe

r 
da

y,
 h

as
 e

le
ct

ri
ci

ty
E

E
C

 M
ai

n 
C

ab
in

 R
en

ta
l

$1
00

pe
r 

se
ss

io
n 

(8
am

-4
pm

, 5
pm

-1
1p

m
)

E
E

C
 C

on
fe

re
nc

e 
R

oo
m

$1
00

pe
r 

se
ss

io
n 

(8
am

-4
pm

, 5
pm

-1
1p

m
)

K
id

s 
C

ab
in

 R
en

ta
l

$5
0

pe
r 

se
ss

io
n 

(8
am

-4
pm

, 5
pm

-1
1p

m
)

S
ec

ur
it

y 
D

ep
os

it
$3

00
O

ut
do

or
 A

m
ph

it
he

at
er

 
$5

0.
00

pe
r 

da
y

G
ar

de
n 

P
lo

t R
en

ta
l

$0
.0

0 
- $

10
.0

0
pe

r 
se

as
on

.  
Fe

e 
is

 d
ep

en
de

nt
 o

n 
an

y 
ci

ty
 w

at
er

 u
se

R
es

tr
oo

m
s 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
fo

r 
G

az
eb

o,
 O

ut
do

or
 P

av
il

io
n,

 K
id

s 
C

ab
in

, a
nd

 A
m

ph
it

he
at

er
 o

nl
y 

du
ri

ng
 b

us
in

es
s 

ho
ur

s 
M

-F
, 8

-5
pm

M
er

ch
an

di
se

S
hi

rt
s

$5
-$

25
.0

0
Co

st
 p

er
 It

em
H

at
s

$5
-$

25
.0

0
Co

st
 p

er
 It

em
D

rin
ki

ng
 C

on
ta

in
er

$1
0-

$3
0

Co
st

 p
er

 It
em

F
ac

il
it

ie
s

S
pe

ci
al

 E
ve

n
ts

E
X

H
IB

IT
 A

4



229 S 2ND ST, ELKHART, IN 46516 
T 574.294.5471 U ELKHARTINDIANA.ORG 

Memorandum 
To: Arvis Dawson, President Elkhart City Council 
CC:   
From:  Jamie Arce, CPA, Controller 
Date:  November 19, 2024 
Re:  ARP Final Spending Plan 

As we approach the end of the year and the deadline for using ARP State and Local 
Fiscal Recovery Funds, the administration proposes allocating the remaining 
unappropriated and unobligated funds to the Lasalle, McKinley, and Benham area 
water and sewer project. 

This $14.5 million project was initially funded through a combination of ARP funds ($9.4 
million) and Capital Outlay funds ($5.1 million), as approved in Ordinances 5974 and 
5975. 

By utilizing the remaining ARP funds for this project, the City can comply with the 
program's end of year obligation rules and free up the previously allocated Capital 
Outlay funds for other future purposes. 



Page 1 of 3

Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-56

ORDINANCE NO.

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING FOUR HUNDRED TEN THOUSAND AND 00\100 
DOLLARS ($410,000.00) FROM THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL 

RECOVERY FUND FOR THE LASALLE, MCKINLEY AND BENHAM AREA WATER 
AND SEWER PROJECT 

_______________________________ 
 

WHEREAS, the United States Congress passed the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) 

and awarded to the City of Elkhart (“City”) funds which may be used for certain authorized uses 

specified under Section 603(c)(1) of the Social Security Act, as added by Section 9901 of the 

ARPA; 

WHEREAS, Section 603(c)(1) of the Social Security Act, as added          by Section 9901 of the 

American Rescue Plan Act   of 2021, designates the following authorized uses: 

(A) to respond to the public health emergency with respect to the Coronavirus 
Disease 2019 (COVID–19) or its negative economic impacts, including assistance 
to households,  small businesses, and nonprofits, or aid to impacted industries such 
as tourism, travel, and hospitality; 

(B) to respond to workers performing essential work during the COVID–19 public 
health  emergency by providing premium pay to eligible workers of the metropolitan 
city, nonentitlement unit of local government, or county that are performing such 
essential work, or by providing grants to eligible employers that have eligible 
workers who perform essential work;

(C) for the provision of government services to the extent of the reduction in 
revenue of such metropolitan city, nonentitlement unit of local government, or 
county due to the COVID–19 public health emergency relative to revenues collected
in the most recent full fiscal year of the metropolitan city, nonentitlement unit of 
local government, or county prior to the emergency; or

(D) to make necessary investments in water, sewer, or broadband infrastructure.

 

WHEREAS, the LaSalle, McKinley and Benham Area Water and Sewer Project 

(“Project”) is an ongoing and dedicated multiyear utilities infrastructure project of the City, to 

extend water service to area streets where none exists, eliminate some extensive shared private 



Page 2 of 3

lines, eliminate lead services, loop the water mains, and remove mains where roads have been 

abandoned; and

WHEREAS, although the Project previously had been partially funded with American 

Rescue Plan (ARP) funds and partially with Capital Outlay funds, the utilization of the remaining, 

unappropriated and unobligated ARP funds, toward the utility project will allow the City to comply 

with the program’s end-of-year obligation for use of ARP funds and allow the City the opportunity 

to redirect any unused Capital Outlay funds to other future purposes; and

WHEREAS, the Administration requests that the Common Council of the City of Elkhart 

appropriate the sum of Four Hundred Ten Thousand Dollars ($410,000.00) from the ARP 

Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund to the Infrastructure account; and 

WHEREAS, the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund contains funds sufficient 

and appropriate for the project;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1. The amount of Four Hundred Ten Thousand Dollars ($410,000.00) be, and 

hereby is, appropriated from the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund and assigned to

the following account line:

Account No. 2474-5-000-4430000 Infrastructure         $410,000.00

Section 2. The Common Council has fixed the ____ day of ________________, _____, at 

6:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers, as the date, time and place when the Common Council will 

consider and determine the appropriation, and all taxpayers and interested persons will have the 

opportunity to appear and express their views. 

Section 3.  This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common 

Council and approval by the Mayor according to law. 



Page 3 of 3

SO ORDAINED this   day of ,  . 

    
  Arvis Dawson
  President of the Common Council

ATTEST: 

  
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this  day of   ,   

at_________ a.m./p.m.  

 Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

Approved by me this  day of ,  . 

    
  Rod Roberson, Mayor

ATTEST: 

  
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 



Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-62

M E M O R A N D U M  

DATE:  December 10, 2024 

TO:  Common Council 

FROM: Corporation Counsel John Espar  

RE: Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-62  
 

RESOLUTION CONFIRMING THE DESIGNATION OF AN ECONOMIC REVITALIZATION AREA

FOR PURPOSES OF GRANTING TAX PHASE-IN BENEFITS TO ACCRA-PAC, INC. DBA VOYANT 

BEAUTY \ NM VYT, LLC 

This Proposed Resolution relates to the Application for Property Tax Phase-In submitted by Accra-Pac, 
Inc. dba Voyant Beauty \ NM VYT, LLC for which this Council previously declared an Economic 
Revitalization Area under Resolution No. R-61-24 at the public meeting held on December 2, 2024. 

This Proposed Resolution 24-R-62 confirms the declaration of an Economic Revitalization Area within 
which Accra-Pac, Inc. dba Voyant Beauty \ NM VYT, LLC proposes to invest in manufacturing equipment 
to increase economic development in the area and in exchange for which Accra-Pac, Inc. dba Voyant Beauty 
\ NM VYT, LLC seeks to receive tax phase-in benefits.

 



Page 1 of 3 

Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-62 

RESOLUTION NO.

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART,
INDIANA, CONFIRMING RESOLUTION NO. R-61-24, WHICH DECLARED A 

CERTAIN AREA IN THE CITY OF ELKHART TO BE AN ECONOMIC 
REVITALIZATION AREA FOR THE PURPOSE OF GRANTING TAX PHASE-IN 

BENEFITS TO ACCRA-PAC, INC. DBA VOYANT BEAUTY \ NM VYT, LLC 

WHEREAS, on December 2, 2024, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart (the 
"Common Council"), approved and adopted Resolution No. R-61-24, a resolution entitled "A 
Resolution of the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, Declaring a Certain Area to be 
an Economic Revitalization Area For the Purpose of Granting Tax Phase-in Benefits to Accra-
Pac, Inc. dba Voyant Beauty  \ NM VYT, LLC (the "Declaratory Resolution"); and 

WHEREAS, the Declaratory Resolution found and determined that a certain area in the 
City of Elkhart (the "Area") was an economic revitalization area within the meaning of Indiana 
Code 6-1.1-12.1, (the "Act") for the purpose of allowing deductions from the assessed value of the 
manufacturing equipment (the “New Equipment”) to be installed in the Area; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2.5(b) of the Act, the Common Council has filed the 
Declaratory Resolution with the Elkhart County Assessor; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2.5(c)(1) of the Act, the Common Council has published 
notice of the adoption and substance of the Declaratory Resolution in accordance with Indiana 
Code 5-3-1 (the “Notice”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2.5(c)(2) of the Act, the Common Council has also filed 
a copy of the Notice and a copy of the Statement of Benefits form filed by the Applicant with the 
officers of the taxing units who are authorized to fix budgets, tax rates and tax levies in the Area; 
and 

 

WHEREAS, the Common Council now desires to take final action and confirm the 
necessary findings in accordance with Section 2.5 and Section 4.5 of the Act; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, 



Page 2 of 3 

Indiana, as follows: 

1. After considering the evidence presented at the public hearing on this date, December 
, 2024, the Common Council hereby finds that the Declaratory Resolution should be confirmed 

in its entirety and without modification. 

2. This Resolution constitutes final action, pursuant to Section 2.5(c) of the Act, by the
Common Council determining the public utility and benefit of the installation of the New 
Equipment in the Area, and confirming the Declaratory Resolution declaring the Area an economic 
revitalization area pursuant to the Act. 

RESOLVED this ____ day of ________________, _______. 

____________________________________
Arvis Dawson
President of the Common Council 

ATTEST: 

______________________________
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, ______, at 

a.m./p.m.

_____________________________________
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 

APPROVED by me this _______ day of ________________, ______. 

_____________________________________
Rod Roberson, Mayor for the City of Elkhart 

ATTEST:

______________________________
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk



Page 3 of 3 

STATE OF INDIANA )
)  §

COUNTY OF ELKHART )

I, Debra D. Barrett, Clerk of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, do hereby certify the above is a 
full, true and complete copy of Resolution No. R-____, adopted by the Common Council on the

day of , ______, by a vote of _______ AYES and _______ NAYS, and was 
approved and signed by the Mayor on the ______ day of    , ______, and now 
remains on file and on record in my office.

 
WITNESS my hand and the official seal of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, this ____ day of 
 , ______.
 
 

__________________________________
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 



Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-63

M E M O R A N D U M  

DATE:  December 10, 2024 

TO:  Common Council 

FROM: Corporation Counsel John Espar  

RE: Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-63  
 A Resolution Approving the Memorandum of Agreement with Accra-Pac, Inc. dba Voyant 

Beauty \ NM VYT, LLC for Tax Phase-In Benefits 
  

This resolution relates to the Application for Property Tax Phase-In submitted by Accra-Pac, Inc. dba 
Voyant Beauty \ NM VYT, LLC which was first considered by this Council at its public meeting held on 
December 2, 2024 with the Declaration of an Economic Revitalization Area. 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-63 approves the corresponding agreement by which Accra-Pac, Inc. dba Voyant 
Beauty \ NM VYT, LLC will enjoy tax phase-in benefits for the investments made in the economic 
revitalization area. The Memorandum of Agreement likewise establishes the legal responsibilities and legal 
obligations imposed upon Accra-Pac, Inc. dba Voyant Beauty \ NM VYT, LLC in exchange for the tax 
phase-in benefits granted by the City.

 



Page 1 of 2 

Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-63

RESOLUTION NO. ________ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, TO APPROVE A MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE 

CITY OF ELKHART AND ACCRA-PAC, INC. DBA VOYANT BEAUTY \ NM VYT, 
LLC

______________________________________ 

WHEREAS, Accra-Pac, Inc. dba Voyant Beauty \ NM VYT, LLC, (hereinafter, the

“Applicant\Property Owner”) has filed an application with the City of Elkhart (the “City”) 

requesting that 1919 Superior Street, Elkhart IN 46516, and certain surrounding parcels, situated 

in Elkhart, Indiana, be designated as an economic revitalization area by the Common Council of 

the City of Elkhart (the “Common Council”), in accordance with Indiana Code § 6.1-1.1-12.1, for 

the purpose of allowing deductions from the assessed value of the installation of manufacturing 

equipment (the “New Equipment”); and

WHEREAS, the City’s Tax Abatement Policy requires that the Applicant\Property Owner 

(jointly and severally, if not the same entity), enter into a written agreement agreeing: (i) to comply 

with the project description, (ii) to create and retain a certain number of jobs along with the 

associated wages rates and salaries (as shown in its Application), and (iii) to comply with its 

Statement of Benefits forms and any other documents submitted in support of its Application; and

WHEREAS, a Memorandum of Agreement (Personal Property) has been prepared and 

presented to the Common Council for the New Equipment, which Agreement governs the 

relationship between the City and the Applicant\Property Owner during the term of the tax 

abatement; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council believes that it is in the best interest of the City to enter 

into the agreement. 



Page 2 of 2 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, that the attached Memorandum of Agreement (Personal 

Property) to be entered into between the City and the Applicant\Property Owner is hereby 

approved by the Common Council. 

RESOLVED this ____ day of ________________, _______. 
 

 
____________________________________
Arvis Dawson 

     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk
 

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, _______, at  

 a.m./p.m.

  _____________________________________
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 

 
 
 APPROVED by me this _______ day of ________________, ______. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Rod Roberson, Mayor for the City of Elkhart 

ATTEST: 

______________________________
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 

 



Page 1 of 7 

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

Personal Property 

This Memorandum of Agreement (“Agreement”) serves as a confirmation of the good-faith 
commitment by Accra-Pac, Inc. dba Voyant Beauty \ NM VYT, LLC, (hereinafter, the “Applicant”) to use 
its reasonable best efforts to implement the Project as described, to create and retain the jobs and pay the 
wages specified in the Applicant’s Property Tax Phase-In Application for designation of certain real 
property as an Economic Revitalization Area, (“Application”), and the Statement of Benefits Personal 
Property Improvement (Form SB-1 Personal Property, as the same may have been amended,  herein after 
“Statement of Benefits”), and to fulfill its obligations set forth within this Agreement (“Applicant's 
Commitment”). 

 
1. Commitments of City and Applicant:   

 (a)  Subject to the requirements under Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-3, the City of Elkhart, 
Indiana ("City"), acting by and through its Common Council, agrees to approve a deduction from the 
assessed value of the proposed installation of manufacturing equipment for five (5) (consecutive) on the 
Applicant’s real property to be located at 1919 Superior Street, Elkhart IN 46516 (hereinafter, the “Subject 
Property”), which is more specifically described in Exhibit A of this Agreement.  The amount of the 
deduction from the assessed value of the Subject Property shall be according to the deduction schedule 
shown in Exhibit B of this Agreement (hereinafter, the “Tax Phase-In”). The Tax Phase-In shall start with 
the first year in which the assessed value of the Subject Property increases because of the proposed 
manufacturing equipment. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the designation of the Subject 
Property as an economic revitalization area expires on December 31, 2027, and the Project (as hereafter 
defined) must be completed by then for the Applicant to be or remain eligible to receive the Tax Phase-In 
benefits. 
 
  (b)  Subject to Section 4 herein, the Applicant agrees that by March 31, 2025, it will make 
a total capital expenditure of Three Million One Hundred Thousand ($3,100,000.00) associated with the 
investment of manufacturing equipment for three compounding tanks with agitation to be used in the 
production of liquids at the Subject Property (the “New Equipment”), which will create at least 48 new full-
time permanent positions with an average annual salary of no less than $58,796.00, while retaining 219 
jobs with an average annual salary of no less than $55,676.00, based on two thousand forty hours (2,040) 
annually.  The Applicant further agrees to contribute fifteen percent (15%) of the amount of personal 
property taxes abated under the Tax Phase-In, which payment will be collected by the Elkhart County 
Treasurer as set forth in the tax invoice statement and remitted to the City. Payment of the contribution 
shall (1) coincide with the due date of property tax payments in Elkhart County as set forth in Indiana Code 
6-1.1-22-9(a), and (2) shall be due and payable the first time in the year following the first year in which 
the assess value of the subject property increases by reason of the Project and shall continue and each year 
thereafter during the term of the Tax Phase-In deduction period set forth in Exhibit B, unless modified by 
agreement of the City of Elkhart and the Applicant.  
   

2.  Applicant’s Compliance with City and State Laws: During the term of the Tax Phase-In, the 
Applicant shall use its good-faith efforts to comply with all applicable provisions of Indiana Code 6-1.1-
12.1. Also, during the term of the Tax Phase-In, the City may annually request information from the 
Applicant concerning the nature of the Project, the costs of the Project and the amount of and average wages 
for the jobs, and the Applicant shall provide the City with adequate written evidence thereof within fifteen 
(15) days of such request ("Annual Survey").  The City shall utilize this information and the information 
provided by the Applicant in the CF-1 Compliance with the Statement of Benefits form to verify that the 
Applicant has complied with the commitments contained in Applicant's Commitment at all times after the 



Page 2 of 7 

date thereof until the expiration of the Tax Phase-In. The Applicant further agrees to provide the City with 
such additional information reasonably requested by the City related to the information provided in the 
Annual Survey and the CF-1 form within fifteen (15) days following any such additional request.  

 
3.  Substantial Compliance and Rights of Termination: The City reserves the right to terminate the 

Economic Revitalization Area designation and the associated Tax Phase-In if it determines that the 
Applicant has not substantially complied with all of the Applicant's Commitment, and the Applicant’s 
failure to substantially comply with Applicant's Commitment was not due to factors beyond its control. As 
used in this Agreement, substantial compliance shall mean: by March 31, 2025, (1) making capital 
expenditures of not less than Ninety Percent (90%) of the capital expenditures referenced in Section 1 above 
for the Project, (2) creating not less than Ninety Percent (90%) of the jobs referenced in Section 1 above, 
and (3) those new jobs will have an average annual salary of at least $58,796.00, excluding benefits, while 
retaining the jobs referenced in Section 1 of this Agreement and at the specified average annual rate of pay.  

4.  Factors Beyond Applicant's Control:  As used in this Agreement, factors beyond the control of 
the Applicant shall only include factors that: (i) are not reasonably foreseeable at the time of designation, 
application, and submission of the Statement of Benefits; (ii) are not caused by any grossly negligent act or 
omission of the Applicant; and (iii) do not materially and adversely affect the ability of the Applicant to 
substantially comply with this Agreement.  

 
5.  Repayment of Tax Phase-In Savings:   
 
 (a) During the term of this Agreement, if the Applicant: (i) is delinquent or in default 

for a period of sixty (60) days with respect to any tax payment due in Elkhart County, Indiana; or (ii) ceases 
operations at the facility for which the Tax Phase-In was granted for a period longer than thirty (30) 
consecutive days (other than a temporary cessation of operations in the Applicant's normal course of 
business or as a result of a force majeure event); or (iii) announces the cessation of operations at such 
facility for a period longer than thirty (30) consecutive days (other than a temporary cessation of operations 
in the Applicant's normal course of business or as a result of a force majeure event); or otherwise fails to 
comply with the commitments of this Memorandum of Agreement, then the City may terminate the 
Economic Revitalization Area designation and associated Tax Phase-In benefits, and upon such 
termination, require the Applicant to repay all of the Tax Phase-In benefits received through the date of 
such termination.  Such repayment of received benefits shall be calculated as provided in Section 5(b). The 
amount of benefit repayment shall be measured against the level of noncompliance, relative to the entire 
abatement period. 

 
 (b) In the event the City terminates this Agreement in accordance with this Section 5, 

the Applicant will be required to repay only that percentage of the Tax Phase-In benefits received through 
the date of termination that is equal to the percentage of the Applicant's noncompliance with Section 1 
above, including unfulfilled years, subsequent to the termination. Applicant shall be entitled to a credit 
against the recalculated tax due for the fifteen percent (15%) tax savings which was allocated to, and 
received by, the City. For purposes of this Agreement, the percentage of the Applicant's noncompliance 
with Section 1 above shall be calculated as follows: the amount of actual investment in each category 
(average annual salary, number of jobs, and personal property investment) shall be divided by 100% 
compliance, to determine Applicant’s compliance rate. The compliance rate then shall be subtracted from 
100% to determine the percentage of noncompliance. The percentage of noncompliance shall equal the 
percentage of benefit repayment. 

 
If the Applicant fails to achieve substantial compliance in more than one category, the category 

with the lowest compliance rate will be used to determine the repayment percentage. 



Page 3 of 7 

 
6.  Assessment Appeals.  Neither the Applicant, nor its successors and assigns, shall file any 

property tax assessment appeal, review, or other challenge of the property tax assessment made for the 
Project involved during the term of the Tax Phase-In unless one of the following conditions occurs during 
the deduction period: 

 
 (a) the original assessment for the Project as determined by the Elkhart County Assessor 

(“Assessor”) is in excess of the total capital expenditure for the Project as set forth in Section 1 of this 
Agreement; or 

 
 (b) a trending assessment or a reassessment by the Assessor increases the assessment for 

the Project by more than fifteen percent (15%) from one (1) year to the next year, or by more than an 
average of ten percent (10%) per year over two (2) or more years. 

 
7.  Notice/Hearing of Termination:  In the event that the City determines in accordance with Section 

5 above that (i) the Economic Revitalization Area designation and associated Tax Phase-In benefits should 
be terminated or (ii) that all or a portion of the Tax Savings should be repaid, it will give the Applicant 
notice of such determination, including a written statement calculating the amount due from the Applicant, 
and will provide the Applicant with an opportunity to meet with the City’s designated representatives to 
show cause why the Tax Phase-In benefits should not be terminated and/or repaid.  Such notice shall state 
the names of the person with whom the Applicant may meet and will provide that the Applicant shall have 
thirty (30) days from the date of such notice to arrange such meeting and to provide its evidence concerning 
why the Tax Phase-In benefits termination and/or repayment should not occur.  If, after giving such notice 
and receiving such evidence, if any, the City determines that the Tax Phase-In termination and/or repayment 
action is proper, the Applicant shall be provided with written notice and a hearing before the Common 
Council.  Before any final action shall be taken terminating the Tax Phase-In and/or requiring repayment 
of Tax Phase-In benefits, any such action shall be subject to judicial review under Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-
5.9(e). 

 
8.  Repayment:  In the event the City requires repayment of the Tax Phase-In benefits as provided 

following the procedures set forth in Section 7 hereunder, it shall provide Applicant with a written statement 
calculating the amount due ("Statement"), and the Applicant shall repay its actual amount of Tax Phase-In 
benefits to the City within thirty (30) days of the date of the Statement. If the Applicant does not make 
timely repayment, the City shall be entitled to all reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees incurred in the 
enforcement and collection of the Tax Phase-In benefits required to be repaid hereunder. 

 
9.  Modification/Entire Agreement:  This Agreement and any schedules attached hereto contain the 

entire understanding between the City and the Applicant with respect to the subject matter hereof, and 
supersede all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings, inducements, and conditions, 
expressed or implied, oral or written, except as herein contained. This Agreement may not be modified or 
amended other than by an agreement in writing signed by the City and the Applicant. The Applicant 
understands that any and all filings required to be made or actions required to be taken to initiate or maintain 
the Tax Phase-In are solely the responsibility of the Applicant. 

 
10.  Waivers:  Neither the failure, nor any delay on the part of the City to exercise any right, remedy, 

power or privilege under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial 
exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege preclude any other or further exercise of the same or of 
any other right, remedy, power or privilege with respect to any occurrence or be construed as a waiver of 
such right, remedy, power, or privilege with respect to any other occurrence.  No waiver shall be effective 
unless it is in writing and is signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver. 



Page 4 of 7 

 
11.  Governing Laws of Indiana:  This Agreement and all questions relating to its validity, 

interpretation, performance, and enforcement shall be governed by the laws and decisions of the courts of 
the State of Indiana. 

12.  Applicant’s Consent to Jurisdiction:  The Applicant hereby irrevocably consents to the 
jurisdiction of the Courts of the State of Indiana and of the Elkhart County Circuit or Superior Court in 
connection with any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any documents or 
instrument delivered with respect to any of the obligations hereunder, and any action related to this 
Agreement shall be brought in such County and in such Court. 

 
13.  Notices: All notices, requests, demands, and other communications required or permitted 

under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been received when delivered by 
hand, by facsimile (with confirmation by registered or certified mail), on the next business day following 
the mailing by a nationally recognized overnight commercial courier, or on the third business day following 
the mailing, by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, thereof, addressed as 
set forth below:

 
If to Applicant:

Accra-Pac, Inc. dba Voyant Beauty 
Bill Saracco
Chief Financial Officer
1919 Superior St
Elkhart, IN 46516 

NM VYT, LLC 
Bill Saracco 
Chief Financial Officer
6710 River Road 
Hodgkins, IL  60525 

If to the City of Elkhart: 

Office of the Mayor
229 S. Second Street 
Elkhart, Indiana 46516

Copy to:

Elkhart Common Council
c/o Administrative Assistant to the Council
229 S. Second Street 
Elkhart, Indiana 46516

Office of Corporation Counsel 
229 S. Second Street 
Elkhart, Indiana 46516

14.  Assignment and Transfer Prohibited:  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of the City and the Applicant and their successors and assigns, except that no party may assign or 
transfer its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
15.  Valid and Binding Agreement: This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original as against any party whose signature appears 
thereon, and all of which shall together constitute one and the same instrument. By executing this 
Agreement, each party confirms that each person so executing it has been duly authorized to execute this 
Agreement on behalf of such party and that this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of 
the party. 

 



Page 5 of 7 

16.  Severability:  The provisions of this Agreement and of each section or other subdivision herein 
are independent of and separable from each other, and no provision shall be affected or rendered invalid or 
unenforceable by virtue of the fact that for any reason any other or others of them may be invalid or 
unenforceable in whole or in part unless this Agreement is rendered totally unenforceable thereby. 

17.  No Personal Liability:  No official, director, officer, employee or agent of the City shall be 
charged personally by the Applicant, its employees or agents with any liabilities or expenses of defense or 
be held personally liable to the Applicant under any term or provision of this Agreement or because of the 
execution by such party of this Agreement or because of any default by such party hereunder. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year 

first above written. 

APPLICANT:

Accra-Pac, Inc. dba Voyant Beauty 
1919 Superior St
Elkhart, IN 46516 

By: 

  
Bill Saracco 
Chief Financial Officer

CITY OF ELKHART:

By: 

  
Arvis Dawson
President of the Elkhart Common Council

By:       

  
Rod Roberson
Mayor of the City of Elkhart 

Approved as to form:

  
John M. Espar 
Corporation Counsel for the City of Elkhart

\ NM VYT, LLC 
6710 River Road 
Hodgkins, IL  60525 

   
Bill Saracco 
Chief Financial Officer

Attest: 

   
Debra Barrett 
Elkhart City Clerk 

Attest: 

   
Debra Barrett 
Elkhart City Clerk 



Page 6 of 7 

Exhibit A
Description of Real Property 

(Economic Revitalization Area and Project Area)

Legal Description:

 
The Land referred to herein below is situated in the County of Elkhart, State of Indiana, and is 
described as follows: 

A PART OF THE WEST ONE-HALF (W 1/2) OF SECTION THREE (3), TOWNSHIP THIRTY-
SEVEN (37) NORTH, RANGE FIVE (5) EAST, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS:

BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SUPERIOR STREET AND SIMPSON 
AVENUE AS SAME ARE PLATTED IN THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA; THENCE 
EASTWARDLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SUPERIOR STREET, ONE THOUSAND 
NINE HUNDRED THIHTY (1930) FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SUPERIOR 
STREET AND RIVERVIEW AVENUE; THENCE SOUTHWARDLY ALONG THE WEST 
LINE OF SAID RIVERVIEW AVENUE, SEVEN HUNDRED FIFTY AND EIGHTY- FIVE 
HUNDREDTHS (750.85) FEET TO AN IRON STAKE ON THE NORTH LINE OF THE NEW 
YORK CENTRAL RAILROAD COMPANY'S RIGHT-OF WAY; THENCE WESTWARDLY 
ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY ONE THOUSAND NINE HUNDRED 
EIGHTY-SIX AND ONE TENTH (1,986.1) FEET TO AN IRON STAKE ON THE EAST LINE 
OF SIMPSON AVENUE; THENCE NORTHWARDLY ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID 
SIMPSON AVENUE, ONE THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED SIXTEEN AND FIVE TENTHS 
(1,216.5) FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING. 
 
Address:  
 
1919 Superior Street, Elkhart IN 46516 
 
Parcel Identification Number(s): 
 

20-06-03-301-004.000-012 

20-06-03-301-005.000-012 



Page 7 of 7 

Exhibit B

Tax Deduction Schedule  
























































